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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Guidance under Section 2 of the Voting 
Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. 10301, for 

redistricting and methods of electing 
government bodies 

Published September 1, 2021 

The Voting Rights Act of 1965 is a landmark civil rights law that protects our democratic process against 

racial discrimination.  One of the key protections of the Voting Rights Act is Section 2, 52 U.S.C. § 10301, 

which is a permanent nationwide prohibition on voting practices that discriminate on the basis of race, 

color, or membership in a language minority group (as defined in Sections 4(f)(2) and 14(c)(3) of the Act, 

52 U.S.C. §§ 10303(f)(2), 10310(c)(3)).  Section 2 prohibits both voting practices that result in citizens 

being denied equal access to the political process on account of race, color, or membership in a language 

minority group, and voting practices adopted or maintained for the purpose of discriminating on those 

bases. 

Section 2 covers any voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure 

related to voting.  As relevant for purposes of this guidance, Section 2 covers methods of electing public 

officials.  This coverage includes a variety of electoral practices, such as: 1) districting plans used in 

single-member district election systems or multi-member district election systems; 2) mixed election 

systems, e.g., any combination of single-member, multi-member and at-large seats, and any associated 

districting plans; and 3) at-large election systems. 
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U.S. Department of Justice 

Following the release of 2020 Census redistricting data, all fifty States and thousands of counties, 

parishes, municipalities, school districts, and special purpose districts will craft new districting plans. 

The Department of Justice will undertake its usual nationwide reviews of districting plans and methods of 

electing governmental bodies to evaluate compliance with Section 2.  It is the Department’s view that 

guidance identifying its general approach to Section 2 in this context would be useful.  This guidance is 

not legally binding, nor is it intended to be comprehensive; rather, it is intended only to aid jurisdictions as 

they comply with Section 2.1 

The discussion provides guidance concerning the following topics: 

• Enforcement of Section 2 by the Department of Justice 

• Section 2 Analysis: Discriminatory Result 

• Section 2 Analysis: Discriminatory Intent 

• Other Federal Laws Governing Redistricting 

• Use of 2020 Census Data 

• Complaints and Comments 

1    In connection with the 2000 and 2010 Census redistricting cycles, the Department of Justice issued guidance concerning redistricting under 
Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10304, which establishes preclearance requirements for voting changes in certain covered 
jurisdictions.  76 Fed. Reg. 7470 (February 9, 2011); 67 Fed. Reg. 5411 (January 18, 2001).  In 1973, the Supreme Court held that redistricting is a 
”standard, practice, or procedure with respect to voting” within the meaning of Section 5. Georgia v. United States, 411 U.S. 526, 531-35 (1973). 
The Department’s guidance focused on Section 5 because it was the provision under which the Department initially reviewed redistricting plans 
for covered jurisdictions.  However, in 2013, the Supreme Court held that the coverage formula in Section 4(b) of the Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10303(b), 
which determines which jurisdictions are required to comply with Section 5, is now unconstitutional. Shelby County v. Holder, 570 U.S. 529, 557 
(2013).  Hence, as the Department has described previously, there are no jurisdictions currently covered by Section 5, and jurisdictions 
previously covered by the Section 4(b) formula do not need to seek preclearance for new voting changes, such as redistricting plans, absent 
enactment of a new coverage provision.  At present, the only jurisdictions that need to seek preclearance for redistricting plans (or other 
changes in methods of election) are those covered for such changes by a current federal court order entered under Section 3(c) of the Act, 52 
U.S.C. § 10302(c).  The Department’s prior guidance concerning redistricting under Section 5 is no longer operative.  It may still be of assistance 
to jurisdictions in complying with Section 3. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Enforcement of Section 2 by the Department of Justice 

Congress has charged the Attorney General with responsibility for enforcement of the Voting Rights 

Act on behalf of the United States.  52 U.S.C. § 10308(d).  The Department of Justice has delegated that 

enforcement to the Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Rights Division.  28 C.F.R. § 0.50.  The 

Division has in turn vested enforcement responsibility for the civil provisions of the Voting Rights Act 

and other federal voting rights laws in the Voting Section.  Justice Manual § 8-2.271.  The Division’s 

decisions regarding initiation or settlement of litigation are committed to the Assistant Attorney 

General.  28 C.F.R. §§ 0.50, 0.160; Justice Manual § 8-2.270.  The Division can also consider participating 

as amicus curiae in cases in any federal or state court that raise issues under Section 2 of the Voting 

Rights Act. See, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 517. 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301, prohibits discrimination in voting on the basis of 

race, color, or membership in a language minority group.  This permanent, nationwide prohibition 

applies to any voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure, 

including districting plans and methods of election for governmental bodies. Growe v. Emison, 507 U.S. 

25, 39-40 (1993). 

As amended in 1982, Section 2 prohibits voting practices that result in citizens being denied equal 

access to the political process on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group. 

It also continues to prohibit adopting or maintaining voting practices for the purpose of disadvantaging 

citizens on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group. Chisom v. Roemer, 501 

U.S. 380, 394 n.21 (1991).  The essence of a discriminatory results claim alleging vote dilution is that a 

certain electoral law, practice, or structure interacts with social and historical conditions to cause an 

inequality in the opportunities enjoyed by minority voters to elect their preferred representatives. 

Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 47 (1986).  Regardless of whether an electoral law or practice violates 

Section 2’s results test, Section 2 also prohibits any electoral law, practice, or procedure enacted or 

maintained with the intent to disadvantage voters because of their race, color, or membership in a 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

language minority group.  States and political subdivisions should take the Voting Rights Act’s 

requirements into account when redrawing electoral maps, altering a method of election, or 

maintaining a method of election that could have the potential to discriminate. 

The Department of Justice enforces Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act across the country.  The 

Department’s efforts to evaluate compliance with Section 2 and identify potential violations have a very 

broad scope.  This work encompasses jurisdictions of all types that conduct elections for their 

governmental bodies.  Thus, the Department reviews methods of election for U.S. House of 

Representatives seats, state legislatures, county commissions, city councils, school boards, judicial 

bodies, special governmental units with elected boards, and more.  Likewise, the Department evaluates 

all kinds of methods of election, including at-large election systems, districting plans involving multi-

member districts, districting plans using single-member districts, and mixed methods of election.  The 

Department evaluates districting plans and methods of election for compliance with Section 2 

regardless of whether those plans or methods were adopted by legislative bodies, local boards, 

redistricting commissions, state courts, or other governmental bodies.  The Department’s analysis of 

compliance with Section 2 is intensely localized insofar as it looks to the particular facts in each 

jurisdiction and that jurisdiction’s method of election.  Historically, the great majority of Section 2 cases 

brought by the Department have addressed concerns about racial discrimination in voting at the local 

level.  The Department will monitor for compliance with Section 2 around the country in this decade, as 

it has in prior decades. 2 

When the Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Rights Division authorizes a Section 2 enforcement 

action, the Division seeks to resolve matters amicably and avoid protracted litigation where it is feasible 
3

to do so. 

2    Following release of the decennial census data, this work extends throughout each decade.  The fact that the Department has not challenged 
a particular jurisdiction’s method of election over any given time period does not constitute agreement that it complies with Section 2. 

3    Some examples of recent Section 2 enforcement matters involving methods of election for governmental bodies that were settled by consent 
decree include United States v. City of West Monroe, No. 3:21-cv-00988 (W.D. La. Apr. 14, 2021), ECF No. 4 (board of aldermen); United States v. 
Chamberlain School District, No. 4:20-cv-04084 (D.S.D. June 18, 2020), ECF No. 4 (school board); and United States v. City of Eastpointe, No. 2:17-
cv-10079 (E.D. Mich. June 25, 2019), ECF No. 64 (city council). 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

The Department’s Section 2 cases challenging methods of election for governmental bodies include 

actions against a variety of jurisdictions, including states, counties, municipalities, school districts, and 

special districts. 4 

The Department’s cases under Section 2 have also challenged a variety of different methods of 

election, including at-large election systems, as well as district-based election systems and mixed 
5

election systems involving a combination of at-large elections and district elections. 

In the course of investigating and bringing enforcement actions under Section 2 of the Voting Rights 

Act, the Department applies well-established case law, which is briefly described below. 

4 See, e.g., United States v. Texas, No. 5:11-cv-00360 (W.D. Tex.), ECF No. 907 (state legislative and congressional districts); United States v. 
Charleston County, No. 2:01-cv-00155 (D.S.C.) (county commission); United States v. Marion County, No. 4:99-cv-00151 (M.D. Ga.) (county 
commission); United States v. Morgan City, No. 6:00-cv-01541 (W.D. La.) (city council); United States v. City of Lawrence, No. 1:98-cv-12256 (D. 
Mass.) (city council and school board); United States v. Village of Port Chester, No. 1:06-cv-15173 (S.D.N.Y.) (board of trustees); United States v. 
Georgetown County School District, No. 2:08-cv-00889 (D.S.C.) (school board); and United States v. Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water 
District, No. 2:00-cv-07903 (C.D. Cal.) (board of directors for special purpose district). 

5 See, e.g., United States v. Blaine County, No. 4:99-cv-00122 (D. Mont.) (at-large elections for county commission); United States v. School Board 
of Osceola County, No. 6:08-cv-00582 (M.D. Fla.) (single-member district plan for school board); United States v. Crockett County, No. 1:01-01129 
(W.D. Tenn.) (multi-member district system for county commission); United States v. South Dakota, No. 3:00-cv-03015 (D.S.D.) (multi-member 
district in state legislative districting plan); United States v. City of Euclid, No. 1:06-cv-01652 (N.D. Ohio) (mixed at-large and ward method of 
election for city council). 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Section 2 Analysis: Discriminatory Result 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act prohibits, among other things, any electoral practice or procedure 

that minimizes or cancels out the voting strength of members of racial or language minority groups in 

the voting population.  This phenomenon is known as vote dilution. 

In Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30 (1986), the Supreme Court set out the framework for challenges to 

such practices or procedures.  In Brnovich v. Democratic National Committee, 141 S. Ct. 2321, 2337 

(2021), the Supreme Court described Gingles as “our seminal § 2 vote-dilution case” and recognized 

that “[o]ur many subsequent vote-dilution cases have largely followed the path that Gingles charted.” 

Analysis begins by considering whether three Gingles preconditions exist.  First, the minority group 

must be sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority of the voting-age 

population in a single-member district.  Second, the minority group must be politically cohesive.  And 

third, the majority must vote sufficiently as a bloc to enable it—in the absence of special 

circumstances, such as the minority candidate running unopposed—usually to defeat the minority 

group’s preferred candidate. 

If all three Gingles preconditions are present, consideration proceeds to an analysis of the totality of 

the circumstances in a jurisdiction.  This analysis incorporates factors enumerated in the Senate Report 

that accompanied the 1982 Voting Rights Act Amendments, S. Rep. No. 97-417, at 28-29 (1982), which 

are generally known as the “Senate Factors.”  These factors are themselves drawn from earlier case 

law. Id. at 28 nn. 112-113.  The factors include: 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

1. the extent of any history of official discrimination in the state or political subdivision that 

touched the right of the members of the minority group to register, to vote, or otherwise to 

participate in the democratic process; 

2. the extent to which voting in the elections of the state or political subdivision is racially 

polarized; 

3. the extent to which the state or political subdivision has used unusually large election districts, 

majority vote requirements, anti-single shot provisions, or other voting practices or procedures 

that may enhance the opportunity for discrimination against the minority group; 

4. if there is a candidate slating process, whether the members of the minority group have been 

denied access to that process; 

5. the extent to which members of the minority group in the state or political subdivision bear the 

effects of discrimination in such areas as education, employment and health, which hinder their 

ability to participate effectively in the political process; 

6. whether political campaigns have been characterized by overt or subtle racial appeals; and 

7. the extent to which members of the minority group have been elected to public office in the 

jurisdiction. 

The Senate Report also identified two additional factors that have probative value in some cases: 

• whether there is a significant lack of responsiveness on the part of elected officials to the 

particularized needs of the members of the minority group; and 

• whether the policy underlying the state or political subdivision’s use of such voting qualification, 

prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice or procedure is tenuous. 

The Senate Factors are neither comprehensive nor exclusive, and other factors may also be relevant 

and may be considered.  For example, the Supreme Court held in Johnson v. De Grandy, 512 U.S. 997, 

1000 (1994), that proportionality of minority voters’ representation in a single-member district plan is 

also a relevant fact in the totality of circumstances.  A finding of vote dilution in violation of Section 2 

does not require that a particular number or a majority of these factors is present in a jurisdiction. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Gingles describes a review of the totality of the circumstances that requires a “searching practical 

evaluation of the past and present reality” of a jurisdiction’s electoral system that is “intensely local,” 

“fact-intensive,” and “functional” in nature. 478 U.S. at 45-46, 62-63, 79.  Liability depends on the 

unique factual circumstances of each case and the totality of the circumstances in the particular 

jurisdiction in question.   Thus, for example, the Supreme Court found that Texas’s use of 

multimember state legislative districts impermissibly diluted minority voting strength, see White v. 

Regester, 412 U.S. 755, 765-70 (1973), while concluding that Indiana’s use of multimember state 

legislative districts did not, Whitcomb v. Chavis, 403 U.S. 124, 148-55 (1971). 

As the cases recognize, Section 2 vote-dilution violations can take several different forms.  At-large 

election systems or multimember districts can submerge minority voters within a larger majority 

electorate that can effectively control all available positions. Gingles, 478 U.S. at 48-49.  Districting 

plans may dilute minority voting strength by cracking or “fragmenting the minority voters among 

several districts where a bloc-voting majority can routinely outvote them” or by “packing them into 

one or a small number of districts to minimize their influence.“  De Grandy, 512 U.S. at 1007; see also 

Gingles, 478 U.S. at 46 n.11.  Some plans may do both. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Section 2 Analysis: Discriminatory Intent 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act also prohibits use of a redistricting plan or method of election 

adopted or maintained for a discriminatory purpose, which is the same prohibition imposed by the 

Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments. 

The Department will examine the circumstances surrounding adoption or continued use of a 

redistricting plan or method of election to determine whether there is direct or circumstantial evidence 

of any discriminatory purpose of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or 

membership in a language minority group. See, e.g., White, 412 U.S. at 765-70; Rogers v. Lodge, 458 U.S. 

613, 623-27 (1982). 

Direct evidence detailing a discriminatory purpose may be gleaned from the public statements of 

members of the adopting body or others who may have played a significant role in the process. See, 

e.g., Busbee v. Smith, 549 F. Supp. 494, 508 (D.D.C. 1982) (three-judge court), aff’d, 459 U.S. 1166 (1983). 

However, “smoking gun” or other stark evidence of intent is rare and is not required to establish a 

discriminatory purpose.  The Department will also evaluate whether circumstantial evidence 

establishes a discriminatory intent.  For example, in League of United Latin American Citizens v. Perry, 

548 U.S. 399, 440 (2006), the Supreme Court suggested that reducing Hispanic/Latino voting strength 

in a district because a growing Hispanic/Latino community appeared poised to vote out an incumbent 

“bears the mark of intentional discrimination.” 

When assessing evidence of a possible discriminatory purpose, the Department of Justice is guided by 

the Supreme Court’s decision in Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 

429 U.S. 252 (1977); see also Brnovich, 141 S. Ct. at 2349 (citing the “familiar approach outlined in 

Arlington Heights”). 

Arlington Heights outlines a non-exhaustive list of factors relevant to this “sensitive inquiry”:  (1) The 

impact of the decision; (2) the historical background of the decision, particularly if it reveals a series of 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

decisions undertaken with discriminatory intent; (3) the sequence of events leading up to the decision; 

(4) whether the challenged decision departs, either procedurally or substantively, from the normal 

practice; and (5) contemporaneous statements and viewpoints held by the decisionmakers.  429 U.S. at 

266-68.  The Senate Factors (described above) may also provide evidence of discriminatory intent. 

Rogers, 458 U.S. at 620-21. 

Discriminatory intent implies that the decisionmaker selected or reaffirmed a particular course of 

action at least in part because of, and not merely in spite of, its adverse effects upon an identifiable 

minority group.  The Department of Justice will draw the normal inferences from the foreseeability of a 

discriminatory impact, and Section 2 does not require proof that one or more government actors are 

“racist” or bear racial animus.  A concurring opinion in Garza v. County of Los Angeles, 918 F.2d 763 (9th 

Cir. 1990), provides a useful example of intentional discrimination without racial animus. 

Assume you are an anglo homeowner who lives in an all-white neighborhood.  Suppose, 

also, that you harbor no ill feelings toward minorities.  Suppose further, however, that some 

of your neighbors persuade you that having an integrated neighborhood would lower 

property values and that you stand to lose a lot of money on your home.  On the basis of 

that belief, you join a pact not to sell your house to minorities.  Have you engaged in 

intentional racial and ethnic discrimination?  Of course you have.  Your personal feelings 

toward minorities don’t matter; what matters is that you intentionally took actions 

calculated to keep them out of your neighborhood. 

Id. at 778 n.1 (Kozinski, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); see also N.C. State Conf. of the 

NAACP v. McCrory, 831 F.3d 204, 222 (4th Cir. 2016).  Discriminatory intent need only be one motivating 

factor behind the enactment or enforcement to violate Section 2.  It need not be the only motivating 

factor.  So, for example, if a jurisdiction purposefully reduces minority voting strength in order to 

protect an incumbent elected official, the fact that incumbent protection was a motivating factor—or 

even the primary motivating factor—does not mean a plan is lawful. See, e.g., LULAC, 548 U.S. at 440; 

Garza, 918 F.2d at 771. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Other Federal Law Governing Redistricting 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act is the Department of Justice’s principal tool to protect voters from 

racial discrimination regarding redistricting and methods of election for governmental bodies.  The U.S. 

Constitution imposes additional requirements on redistricting plans beyond those in Section 2 of the 

Act.  The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits substantial disparities or malapportionment in total 

population between electoral districts in the same districting plan (colloquially known as the “one-

person, one-vote” principle). Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962). The Fourteenth Amendment also 

prohibits certain forms of racial gerrymandering in drawing electoral districts. Shaw v. Reno, 509 U.S. 

630 (1993). 

The Department does not enforce these particular constitutional requirements directly through Section 

2.  However, the Department will consider these background constitutional requirements when 

enforcing Section 2.  For example, malapportioned districts may facilitate vote dilution, and district 

boundaries drawn predominantly on the basis of race may provide evidence of discriminatory intent.  In 

addition, the Department will consider whether any efforts to change the apportionment base for a 

districting plan to a measure other than total population (e.g., to equalize eligible voter population 

between districts) may violate Section 2 if the resulting districting plan, “designedly or otherwise,” will 

“operate to minimize or cancel out” the voting strength of racial minority groups. Burns v. Richardson, 

384 U.S. 73, 88 (1966) (quoting Fortson v. Dorsey, 379 U.S. 433, 439 (1965)). See U.S. Amicus Brief at 

32-35, filed in Evenwel v. Abbott, No. 14-940 (U.S. Sept. 25, 2015). 

Finally, in any lawsuit in which the Department participates, it will propose remedies that are consistent 

with the requirements of the U.S. Constitution. 6 

6     Beyond the requirements of Section 2 of the VRA, and the U.S. Constitution, districting plans and methods of election may be subject to other 
federal or state requirements as well. See, e.g., 2 U.S.C. § 2c (requiring the use of single-member districts to elect members of the U.S. House of 
Representatives). 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Use of 2020 Census Data 

Consistent with past practice, the Department of Justice will evaluate districting plans and methods of 

election using the 2020 Census redistricting data set issued by the Census Bureau pursuant to Public 

Law 94-171, 13 U.S.C. § 141(c).  The Census Bureau released the 2020 Census redistricting data to the 

States and the public on August 12, 2021. 7 

As in 2010 and 2000, the 2020 Census Public Law 94-171 data will include counts of persons who have 

identified themselves as members of more than one racial category.  This reflects the October 30, 1997, 

decision by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) to incorporate multiple-race reporting into 

the Federal statistical system.  62 Fed. Reg. 58,782.  Likewise, on March 9, 2000, OMB issued Bulletin 

No. 00–02 addressing “Guidance on Aggregation and Allocation of Data on Race for Use in Civil Rights 

Enforcement.”  Part II of that Bulletin describes how such census responses will be allocated by Federal 

executive agencies for use in civil rights monitoring and enforcement. 

The Department of Justice will follow both aggregation methods defined in Part II of the Bulletin.  The 

Department’s initial review will be based upon allocating any response that includes white and one of 

the five other race categories identified in the response.  Thus, the total numbers for “Black/African 

American,” “Asian,” “American Indian/Alaska Native,” “Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander,” and 

“Some other race” reflect the total of the single-race responses and the multiple responses in which an 

individual selected a minority race and white race. 

The Department will then move to the second step in its application of the census data by reviewing the 

other multiple-race category, which is comprised of all multiple-race responses consisting of more than 

one minority race. Where there are significant numbers of such responses, the Department will, as 

7    In circumstances where states aim, pursuant to state law, to reallocate certain group quarters populations (such as individuals confined in 
correctional facilities), the Department will review these data as well. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

required by both the OMB guidance and judicial opinions, allocate these responses on an iterative basis 

to each of the component single-race categories for analysis. Georgia v. Ashcroft, 539 U.S. 461, 473, n.1 

(2003). 

As in the past, the Department will analyze Hispanic/Latino persons as a separate minority group for 

purposes of enforcement of the Voting Rights Act, pursuant to Sections 2, 4(f)(2), and 14(c)(3) of the 

Act.  52 U.S.C. §§ 10301, 10303(f)(2), 10310(c)(3).  The Census asks respondents to answer both the 

Hispanic origin question and the race question.  A Hispanic/Latino tabulation of Census data includes 

those who respond affirmatively to the Hispanic origin question, irrespective of their response to the 

race question, e.g., white, a minority race, “some other race” or multiple races.  If there are significant 

numbers of responses in a jurisdiction that self-identify as Hispanic/Latino and one or more minority 

races (for example, Hispanics/Latinos who list their race as Black/African American), the Department 

will conduct its initial analysis by allocating those responses to the Hispanic/Latino category and then 

repeat its analysis by allocating those responses to the relevant minority race category. 
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U.S.  Department of Justice 

Complaints and Comments 

Members of the public are encouraged to send any complaints or comments regarding possible 

violations of the federal voting rights laws to the Voting Section.  This can include complaints or 

comments about methods of election or districting plans that may violate Section 2 of the Voting Rights 

Act.  This can also include requests for the Department to consider participation in cases as amicus 

curiae on issues under the federal voting rights laws.  Finally, this can include comments regarding this 

guidance document.  Complaints and comments can be submitted online through the Civil Rights 

Division’s website portal –civilrights.justice.gov.  The Voting Section can also be reached through its 

toll-free number: (800) 253-3931. 
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i 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

In Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533 (1964), this 
Court held that the Equal Protection Clause of 
the Fourteenth Amendment includes a “one-
person, one-vote” principle. This principle re-
quires that, “when members of an elected body 
are chosen from separate districts, each district 
must be established on a basis that will insure, as 
far as is practicable, that equal numbers of voters 
can vote for proportionally equal numbers of offi-
cials.” Hadley v. Junior Coll. Dist. of Metro. Kan-
sas City, Mo., 397 U.S. 50, 56 (1970). In 2013, the 
Texas Legislature enacted a State Senate map 
creating districts that, while roughly equal in 
terms of total population, grossly malapportioned 
voters. Appellants, who live in Senate districts 
significantly overpopulated with voters, brought a 
one-person, one-vote challenge, which the three-
judge district court below dismissed for failure to 
state a claim. The district court held that Appel-
lants’ constitutional challenge is a judicially un-
reviewable political question. 

The question presented is whether the “one-
person, one-vote” principle of the Fourteenth 
Amendment creates a judicially enforceable right 
ensuring that the districting process does not de-
ny voters an equal vote. 
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1 

INTEREST OF AMICI CURIAE1 

Peter A. Morrison, Ph.D., is an applied demog-
rapher and the founding director of RAND Corpo-
ration’s Population Research Center. Now retired 
from RAND, he consults as a demographer with 
expertise in measuring the racial, ethnic, and cit-
izenship composition of local populations. He has 
decades of experience constructing and evaluating 
local districting plans that comply with Voting 
Rights Act requirements. He has been appointed 
to committees of the National Academy of Scienc-
es, chaired the U.S. Census Bureau’s Advisory 
Committee on Population Statistics, and served 
as an invited participant on the Bureau’s Working 
Group on Race and Ethnicity, 2010 Decennial 
Census. He has been elected President of the 
Southern Demographic Association and as a Di-
rector of the Population Association of America. 
Dr. Morrison served as a paid consultant for Ap-
pellants in the underlying litigation.  

Thomas M. Bryan, M.I.S, M.U.S., is Principal, 
Bryan GeoDemographics, and a specialist in geo-
graphic information systems (“GIS”) and geospa-
tial analysis. A former Census Bureau analyst, he 
has extensive technical experience accessing, 
evaluating, and applying American Community 
Survey data for local redistricting. He served as a 

1 All parties have consented to the filing of this brief. In 
accordance with Rule 37.6, no counsel for a party authored 
this brief in whole or in part, and no counsel or party made 
a monetary contribution intended to fund the preparation or 
submission of this brief. No person other than amici curiae, 
their members, or their counsel made a monetary contribu-
tion to its preparation or submission. 
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2 

 

paid consultant for Appellants in the underlying 
litigation. 

William A. V. Clark, Ph.D., is Distinguished 
Professor Emeritus of Geography and Statistics at 
UCLA. Professor Clark has extensive experience 
evaluating redistricting plans using census data, 
is an elected Member of the National Academy of 
Sciences, and a Fellow of the American Academy 
of Arts and Sciences.  

 Jacob S, Siegel, M.A., is a private consultant 
at J. Stuart Siegel Demographic Services. Previ-
ously he was a Senior Demographic Statistician 
at the U.S. Census Bureau and a Professorial 
Lecturer in Demography at Georgetown Universi-
ty. He is the primary author of the Methods and 
Materials of Demography, which demographers 
regard as the authoritative source of technical 
demographic methods, and the author of Applied 
Demography. He is a former President of the 
Population Association of America. 

David A. Swanson, Ph.D., is a Professor of So-
ciology at the University of California, Riverside. 
Professor Swanson has chaired the U.S. Census 
Bureau’s Scientific Advisory Committee and the 
Population Association of America’s Applied De-
mography Committee and served as editor of 
Population Research and Policy Review. With Mr. 
Siegel, he co-edited the second edition of The 
Methods and Materials of Demography. 

The Pacific Research Institute (“PRI”) is a non-
profit non-partisan 501(c)(3) organization that 
champions freedom, opportunity, and personal re-
sponsibility by advancing free-market policy solu-
tions to the issues that impact the daily lives of 
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3 

 

Americans. Founded in 1979 and based in San 
Francisco, PRI is supported by private contribu-
tions. Its activities include compilation, assess-
ment, evaluation and analysis of complex statisti-
cal data, and the publication of studies based on 
such data. 

INTRODUCTION AND 
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Appellants contend that it violates the one-
person, one-vote principle when States, such as 
Texas, dilute the power of citizens’ votes by as 
much as 50% compared to other voters in nearby 
districts. Here, Texas refused to reduce these im-
balances despite having the data—citizen voting 
age population (CVAP) statistics compiled by the 
United States Census Bureau—and the means 
available to do so.  

Amici demographers will demonstrate that 
States and political subdivisions can—and, in 
many cases, already do—take CVAP into account 
when developing redistricting plans. Using official 
Census Bureau data, professional demographers, 
such as amici, can readily establish district 
boundaries that divide citizen voting-age popula-
tion on a “substantially equal” basis. Reynolds v. 
Sims, 377 U.S. 533, 578-79 (1964). 

The foundation for this demographic work is 
the citizenship data collected through the Census 
Bureau’s American Community Survey (“ACS”). 
The Bureau designed and implemented the ACS 
to collect detailed demographic information on an 
ongoing basis. The ACS, which replaced the “long 
form” questionnaire beginning with the 2010 De-
cennial Census, collects a broad range of demo-
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graphic data covering citizenship and other eco-
nomic, social, housing, and financial characteris-
tics. The survey is administered on a rolling basis 
and reaches approximately 3.5 million households 
each year. The federal government relies on ACS 
data to, among other things, serve as the basis for 
distributing more than $450 billion in federal 
programs. 

The Census Bureau compiles running 1-, 3-, 
and 5-year summaries of ACS data and publishes 
them on its website. The Bureau’s data tables in-
clude CVAP at every level of geography for which 
ACS data are collected throughout the Nation. 
These tables, in turn, allow demographers, legis-
lators, and the general public to calculate a juris-
diction’s CVAP with relative ease. 

The reliability of the Census Bureau’s CVAP 
data is demonstrated by its widespread use and 
acceptance. The Justice Department, States and 
local governments use CVAP data to ensure com-
pliance with the Voting Rights Act (“VRA”). This 
Court, U.S. Courts of Appeals, and district courts 
have also relied on CVAP data. For example, 
CVAP is a necessary consideration when evaluat-
ing minority voting-strength under Section 2 of 
the VRA. CVAP was likewise a key metric when 
assessing retrogression under Section 5 of the 
VRA. And CVAP data govern whether States and 
localities must provide non-English language bal-
lot materials under Section 203 of the VRA. 

In short, the Bureau’s CVAP data is reliable 
enough to allow states, like Texas, to draw, ana-
lyze, and adjust voting district boundary lines of 
substantially equal numbers of eligible voters. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Census Bureau Designed And Imple-
mented The American Community Survey 
To Furnish Detailed Demographic Data 
On An Ongoing Basis For Places Of All 
Sizes.  

The Census Bureau conducts a decennial 
enumeration of persons in the United States pur-
suant to Article 1, section 2 of the Constitution.  
The Bureau’s mandate, however, is not limited to 
the enumeration. The Bureau collects detailed in-
formation from residents on an ongoing basis 
through the ACS.2  

A. The ACS Has Modernized The Cen-
sus Bureau’s Collection Of Demo-
graphic Data.  

For nearly 60 years, the Census Bureau sup-
plemented its decennial census with a “long form” 
questionnaire that elicited detailed socioeconomic 
and housing information from a sample of the 
population. Congressional Research Service, The 
2010 Decennial Census: Background and Issues 3 
(Feb. 3, 2011).3 Prompted by declining response 
rates, increasing costs, and expanding needs for 

                                            
2   This is one of numerous Bureau surveys that supple-
ment the decennial census. 13 U.S.C. § 193. In addition to 
the ACS, among the most widely relied on national sample 
surveys are the Current Population Survey (CPS), 
http://www.census.gov/cps/, and the Survey of Income and 
Program Participation (SIPP), http://www.census.gov/sipp/. 

3  Online at https://www.census.gov/history/pdf/2010-
background-crs.pdf (all internet materials as visited Aug. 4, 
2015). 
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timely demographic data following the 1990 Cen-
sus, the Census Bureau “began developing and 
testing a new means of data collection called a 
‘rolling sample’ or ‘continuous measurement’ sur-
vey that became the American Community Sur-
vey.” Congressional Research Service, The Ameri-
can Community Survey: Development, Implemen-
tation, and Issues for Congress 1 (June 17, 2013) 
(ACS Development and Implementation).4  

After extensive testing and analysis, the Bu-
reau implemented the ACS nationwide in 2005 
and 2006, and it stopped using the “long form” 
with the 2010 Census. U.S. Census Bureau, 
American Community Survey Design and Meth-
odology 5-9 (Jan. 2014) (ACS Design and Method-
ology).5 The Bureau assigns thousands of field 
representatives across the Nation to administer 
the ACS. Id. at 2. They are supported by Bureau 
field partners in six regional offices, survey man-
agers at a Bureau processing center in Indiana, 
and call centers in Arizona, Maryland, and Indi-
ana. Id. Recipients of the survey must provide an-
swers—participation is not voluntary—and many 
of these resources are used for following up with 
non-responders.6 

                                            
4  Online at https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R41532.pdf. 

5 Online at http://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/ 
acs/methodology/design_and_methodology/acs_design_meth
odology_report_2014.pdf. 

6  See U.S. Dep’t of Commerce Economics & Statistics 
Admin., The Value of the American Community Survey: 
Smart Government, Competitive Businesses, and Informed 
Citizens 9 (April 2015) (Value of the ACS), online at 
http://www.esa.gov/sites/default/files/the-value-of-the-
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“Since its start,” the Bureau notes, “the ACS 
has been providing a continuous stream of updat-
ed information for states and local areas, and will 
revolutionize the way we use statistics to under-
stand our communities.” U.S. Census Bureau, 
American Community Survey Information Guide 
2 (April 2013) (ACS Information Guide).7 The 
survey is currently sent to approximately 295,000 
addresses each month—nearly 3.54 million ad-
dresses annually—in all 3,141 counties in the 50 
states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico. 
ACS Development and Implementation at 11; ACS 
Design and Methodology at 10. “The large sample 
size affords comprehensive coverage of the Nation 
and permits statistically reliable estimation for 
small and large geographic areas.” Value of the 
ACS, supra note 6, at 5.  

The Bureau obtains its survey address data 
from its Master Address File (MAF)—the Bu-
reau’s “official inventory of known housing units 
(HUs), group quarters (GQs),8 and selected non-
                                                                                          
acs.pdf (“The mandatory nature of the survey ensures that 
the sample sizes for all areas are sufficient for reliable sta-
tistics.”).  

7  Online at http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/ 
about/information-guide.html. 

8  “Group quarters include such places as college residence 
halls, residential treatment centers, skilled nursing facili-
ties, group homes, military barracks, correctional facilities, 
and workers’ dormitories. Group quarters are categorized 
into two groups, institutional and non-institutional, in the 
ACS estimates. Institutional group quarters: Includes facili-
ties for people under formally authorized, supervised care or 
custody at the time of interview, such as correctional facili-
ties, nursing facilities/skilled nursing facilities, in-patient 
hospice facilities, mental (psychiatric) hospitals, group 
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residential units (public, private, and commer-
cial).” ACS Design and Methodology at 18. Since 
2000, the Bureau has also developed and updated 
in the MAF an inventory of “special places (SPs),” 
which are “places such as prisons, hotels, migrant 
farm camps, and universities.” Id. at 26.  

The ACS collects data in five general catego-
ries: 

1. Demographic characteristics—such as 
age, sex, Hispanic origin, race; 

2. Economic characteristics—such as in-
come, work status, occupation; 

3. Social characteristics—such as citizen-
ship, ancestry, place of birth, education, 
and disability; 

4. Housing characteristics—such as age of 
structure and number of rooms; and 

5. Financial characteristics—such as hous-
ing value and rent.  

U.S. Census Bureau, A Compass for Understand-
ing and Using American Community Service Da-

                                                                                          
homes for juveniles, and residential treatment centers for 
juveniles. Non-institutional group quarters: Includes facili-
ties that are not classified as institutional group quarters, 
such as college/university housing, group homes intended 
for adult, residential treatment facilities for adults, work-
ers’ group living quarters and Job Corps centers, and reli-
gious group quarters.” Census Bureau, Frequently Asked 
Questions, Can you tell me more about group quarters (GQ) 
or group housing facilities in the American Community Sur-
vey (ACS)?, online at https://ask.census.gov/ 
faq.php?id=5000&faqId=1681. 
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ta: What Congress Needs to Know 2 (2008) (Bu-
reau Compass for Congress).9 

The Bureau compiles running 1-, 3-, and 5-
year summaries of data collected by the ACS and 
publishes them on its American FactFinder web-
site.10 ACS Design and Methodology at 182-97 
(detailing preparation and dissemination of data). 
Its sampling methods capture representative and 
statistically valid data: 

The ACS is . . . representative geograph-
ically, providing statistically valid infor-
mation for states, counties, and other large 
and small areas, such as cities, townships, 
and villages, congressional and state legis-
lative districts, American Indian and Alas-
ka Native areas and Hawaiian home lands, 
zip code tabulation areas, and school dis-
tricts. The ACS is also representative of 
many small distinct populations, for exam-
ple, reporting 2009–2013 estimates of per 
capita income by race and Hispanic origin 
for Crenshaw County, Alabama (2014 es-
timated population: 13,977). 

Value of the ACS at 7 (emphasis omitted).  

The Bureau refers to the ACS as a “revolution 
in data collection” that is now “the cornerstone of 
[its] effort to keep pace with the nation’s ever-
increasing demands for timely and relevant data 
                                            
9  Online at https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/ 
library/publications/2008/acs/ACSCongressHandbook.pdf. 

10  The Census Bureau’s American FactFinder is online, 
accessible at http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/ 
index.xhtml. 
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about population and housing characteristics.” 
ACS Design and Methodology at 1.  

B. The Federal Government Relies On 
ACS Data To Administer Federal 
Programs. 

Congress now allocates federal funding among 
beneficiaries in a wide variety of programs based 
on ACS data. The Congressional Research Service 
recently estimated that 

ACS data . . . are used to distribute more 
than $450 billion a year in funding. Thus, 
the timeliness and quality of ACS data are 
important for many reasons, but especially 
to promote the equitable allocation of 
scarce public resources.  

ACS Development and Implementation at 1. See, 
e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-4(e)(1)(H)(v)(II) (relying 
on ACS for rate-setting adjustments for physician 
reimbursement under Medicare); 20 U.S.C. § 6821 
(funding allocation for education of immigrant 
children and children with limited English profi-
ciency). 

The federal government uses ACS data in the 
course of implementing multiple programs and 
policies: 

The questions on the ACS supply the raw 
data needed for a range of programs affect-
ing education, veterans, employment, hous-
ing and community development, public 
health care, commuting, services for the el-
derly and disabled, and assistance pro-
grams for low-income families and chil-
dren. 
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Census Bureau Compass for Congress at 4; see al-
so Value of the ACS at 14-25 (elaborating on fed-
eral uses of ACS data).11 The Commerce Depart-
ment reports that 13 different cabinet-level agen-
cies use ACS data, as do the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve, the Social Security Ad-
ministration, the Federal Communications Com-
mission, and the National Science Foundation. 
Value of the ACS at 19.  

Given these wide-ranging uses of ACS data, 
the Commerce Department’s Under Secretary for 
Economic Affairs recently observed that “[t]he 
ACS is truly a unique, national treasure, produc-
ing a wealth of data on which our country relies to 
make important decisions.” Mark Doms, The 
American Community Survey: Best Quality Data 
with the Least Public Burden (June 30, 2014) 
(noting also that the “value of ACS is immense” 
owing to the “fact that the ACS captures so much 
information so comprehensively”).12  

                                            
11  The Bureau submitted a report to Congress before the 
2010 Census detailing federal legislative and program use 
for each subject and question included in the census and 
ACS, and it maintains an online compilation detailing how 
the federal government uses the ACS data, sorted by each 
question from the survey. U.S. Census Bureau, Subjects 
Planned for the 2010 Census and American Community 
Survey: Federal Legislative and Program Uses (2008); U.S. 
Census Bureau, American Community Survey, Questions on 
the Form and Why We Ask, http://www.census.gov/acs/ 
www/about/why-we-ask-each-question/. 

12  Online at http://www.commerce.gov/news/blog/2014/06/ 
american-community-survey-best-quality-data-least-public-
burden. 
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The conclusion that States and local govern-
ments can reliably use ACS data to distribute vot-
ing power equitably among their citizens is bol-
stered by the fact that the federal government al-
ready uses ACS data to distribute equitably a 
wide array of benefits and to manage federal pro-
grams.   

II. The Bureau Calculates CVAP From 
ACS Data And Publishes Annual Up-
dates In A Readily Accessible Format. 

The ACS data most relevant to this case are 
the Bureau’s published data tables that furnish 
compilations of citizen voting-age population 
(CVAP) data.13 The Bureau publishes this data 
for all States, counties, cities and other Census 
“places,” and, at the smallest level, Census block 
groups.14 A block group is a cluster of census 
blocks that contains between 600 and 3,000 peo-
ple. Value of the ACS at 25.15  

                                            
13  The citizenship data is specifically requested by the 
ACS, which asks: “Is this person a citizen of the United 
States?” U.S. Dep’t of Commerce, The American Community 
Survey 8 (2015 Informational Copy), online at 
http://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/methodology/ 
questionnaires/2015/quest15.pdf. 

14   Online at http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/ 
acs/geography-acs/concepts-definitions.html. 

15  A block “is the smallest geographic entity for which the 
Census Bureau tabulates decennial census data. Many 
blocks correspond to individual city blocks bounded by 
streets, but blocks— especially in rural areas—may include 
many square miles and may have some boundaries that are 
not streets.” ACS Development and Implementation at 10 
n.63. 
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The Bureau publishes this data online through 
its American FactFinder website. These data en-
able demographers, legislators, or any interested 
person to calculate a jurisdiction’s CVAP with 
relative ease by selecting the relevant geography 
and data from Table B05003.16 

Consider the following example for Denton 
County, Texas. The calculated CVAP for the coun-
ty is 447,100, computed as follows from Table 
B05003: 

1. Add the numbers for “Male: 18 years and 
over” and “Female: 18 years and over,” to get 
the total voting-age population: 

243,096 + 258,357 = 501,453 

2. Subtract from the total voting-age popula-
tion the numbers for non-citizens (“Male: 18 
years and over: Not a U.S. citizen” and “Fe-
male: 18 years and over: Not a U.S. citizen”): 

501,453 – 27,358 – 26,995 = 447,100 

This calculation can be performed using Table 
B05003 for any particular state, county, city, cen-
sus tract, census block group, or other ACS level 
of geography. Using the margin of error shown for 
each row of data, one can calculate the corre-

                                            
16  Table B05003, from which the tables for all ACS geog-
raphies can be accessed, is online at 
http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/pro
ductview.xhtml?pid=ACS_13_5YR_B05003&prodType=tabl
e (“Sex By Age By Nativity And Citizenship Status”). 
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sponding margin of error for the calculated CVAP 
of 447,100.17 

The Bureau also furnishes the “Citizen Voting 
Age Population (CVAP) Special Tabulation” of 
ACS data prepared for the U.S. Department of 
Justice for the purpose of redistricting. The Spe-
cial Tabulation provides CVAP data from the 
ACS’s 5-year estimates, updated annually (most 
recently for 2009-2013).18 The Bureau explains: 
“States continue to use the ACS to analyze char-
acteristics of the districts established in the redis-
tricting process. The citizenship by voting age and 
race and ethnicity custom tabulation (CVAP) is 
now released on an annual basis every February 
per the request of several states and the Depart-
ment of Justice.” Catherine McCully, Designing 
P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data for the Year 2020 
Census 22 (U.S. Census Bureau Dec. 2014).19 

 In short, CVAP data are readily accessible to 
State and local governments, as well as their de-
mographers and their citizens.  

 

 

                                            
17  The methodology for calculating the margin of error for 
an ACS estimate is explained in U.S. Census Bureau, A 
Compass for Understanding and Using American Commu-
nity Service Data: What General Data Users Need to Know 
10-11 & A-11-A-17 (2008). 

18  Published online at https://www.census.gov/rdo/data/ 
voting_age_population_by_citizenship_and_race_cvap.html. 

19  Online at http://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/ 
library/publications/2014/rdo/pl94-171.pdf. 

Caster Plaintiffs' Exhibit 106, Page 25

Case 2:21-cv-01536-AMM   Document 114-3   Filed 02/01/22   Page 25 of 42



15 

 

III. CVAP Data Are Routinely Used To 
Prove And Remediate Inequalities In 
Voting. 

Assertions that ACS CVAP data are not suffi-
ciently reliable to use in connection with redis-
tricting are without merit and contrary to deci-
sions of this Court and the courts of appeal, as 
well as the practices of States, local jurisdictions, 
and the Justice Department. 

A. The Judiciary Has Determined 
That CVAP Data Are Necessary In 
Section 2 Claims, And State And 
Local Governments Rely On Them 
When Redistricting.  

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act prohibits 
any “standard, practice, or procedure” that “re-
sults in a denial or abridgement of the right of 
any citizen of the United States to vote on account 
of race or color.” 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a). The Court 
has established three “necessary preconditions” 
for an actionable vote-dilution claim under Sec-
tion 2 of the Voting Rights Act: (1) a minority 
group must be “sufficiently large and geograph-
ically compact to constitute a majority in a single-
member district,” (2) the minority group must be 
“politically cohesive,” and (3) the majority must 
vote “sufficiently as a bloc to enable it . . . usually 
to defeat the minority’s preferred candidate.” 
Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 50-51 (1986).  

This Court’s recent Section 2 cases have ac-
cepted CVAP as the yardstick when assessing 
minority voting-strength. Most notably, CVAP 
was at the heart of a critical dispute over Texas’s 
redistricting plans during the last apportionment 
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cycle. League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Per-
ry, 548 U.S. 399, 423-25, 427-29, 436-42 (2006) 
(opinion of Kennedy, J.) (LULAC);20 id. at 493-94, 
502-10 (Roberts, C.J., concurring in part, concur-
ring in the judgment in part, and dissenting in 
part) (relying on CVAP as relevant statistic in 
compactness inquiry). The Court approved of the 
litigants’ reliance on CVAP as a necessary consid-
eration under Gingles: “Latinos, to be sure, are a 
bare majority of the voting-age population in new 
District 23, but only in a hollow sense, for the 
parties agree that the relevant numbers must in-
clude citizenship. This approach fits the language 
of § 2 because only eligible voters affect a group's 
opportunity to elect candidates.” LULAC, 548 
U.S. at 429 (opinion of Kennedy, J.).21 The Court 
also used CVAP to determine proportionality 
when evaluating a minority group’s opportunity 
to elect their candidate of choice. Id. at 436 (“We 
proceed now to the totality of the circumstances, 
and first to the proportionality inquiry, comparing 
the percentage of total districts that are Latino 
opportunity districts with the Latino share of the 
citizen voting-age population.”).  

                                            
20  In fact, Justice Kennedy’s opinion references the ACS 
when referring to Latino CVAP in Texas. LULAC, 548 U.S. 
at 438.  

21  When seeking affirmance, Texas and the United States 
(as amici) each relied on CVAP to argue that the challeng-
ers failed to meet their burden under Section 2. State Ap-
pellees’ Br. at 93-95, LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399 (2006) 
(Nos. 05–204, 05–254, 05–276, 05–439) (discussing CVAP 
and Section 2 compliance); Br. for the United States as 
Amicus Curiae Supporting Appellees at 24-30, LULAC v. 
Perry. 
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Likewise, in Bartlett v. Strickland, 556 U.S. 1 
(2009), the Court and litigants relied on CVAP to 
evaluate the first Gingles requirement.22 

Every Circuit Court to consider the issue has 
concluded that CVAP is a necessary consideration 
when evaluating the first Gingles requirement. 
Romero v. City of Pomona, 883 F.2d 1418, 1426 
(9th Cir. 1989) (“[E]ligible minority voter popula-
tion, rather than total minority population, is the 
appropriate measure of geographical compact-
ness.”), overruled in part on other grounds by 
Townsend v. Holman Consulting Corp., 914 F.2d 
1136, 1141 (9th Cir. 1990); Negron v. City of Mi-
ami Beach, 113 F.3d 1563, 1569 (11th Cir. 1997) 
(“[T]he proper statistic for deciding whether a mi-
nority group is sufficiently large and geograph-
ically compact is voting age population as refined 
by citizenship.”); Campos v. City of Houston, 113 
F.3d 544, 548 (5th Cir. 1997) (“[C]ourts evaluat-

                                            
22  556 U.S. at 12-15 (opinion of Kennedy, J.); see also id. at 
26-28, 36-40 (Souter, J., dissenting). Although Justice Ken-
nedy’s opinion refers simply to “African-American voting-
age population,” rather than citizen voting-age population, 
the lower court’s decision and Justice Souter’s dissent make 
clear that the relevant metric in the case was CVAP. Pender 
Cnty. v. Bartlett, 649 S.E.2d 364, 371-76 (N.C. 2007) (de-
scribing “the critical question on appeal” as “whether the 
‘sufficiently large and geographically compact’ minority 
population must constitute a numerical majority of citizens 
of voting age in order to satisfy the first Gingles precondi-
tion.”); Bartlett, 556 U.S. at 27 (Souter, J., dissenting) (“In 
the plurality's view, only a district with a minority popula-
tion making up 50% or more of the citizen voting age popu-
lation (CVAP) can provide a remedy to minority voters lack-
ing an opportunity ‘to elect representatives of their 
choice.’”). 
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ing vote dilution claims under section 2 of the 
Voting Rights Act must consider the citizen vot-
ing-age population of the group challenging the 
electoral practice when determining whether the 
minority group is sufficiently large and geograph-
ically compact to constitute a majority in a single-
member district.”); accord Barnett v. City of Chi-
cago, 141 F.3d 699, 704 (7th Cir. 1998) (“We think 
that citizen voting-age population is the basis for 
determining equality of voting power that best 
comports with the policy of the statute.”).  

In order to meet these Section 2 requirements, 
States and local jurisdictions throughout the Na-
tion retain professionals like amici demographers 
to draw, analyze, and adjust voting district 
boundary lines to comply with Section 2—and 
they universally rely on CVAP data to accomplish 
this.23 After Bartlett, moreover, demographers use 
CVAP to adjust boundary lines to ensure that dis-
tricts retain majority-minority status. Every frac-
tion of a percentage point is of intense interest to 
the political players in this process; they trust 

                                            
23  Amicus Dr. Morrison routinely relies upon CVAP to as-
sess Section 2 compliance when consulting for several juris-
dictions. For an example of a city that established new vot-
ing district boundary lines to comply with Section 2, see 
https://www.scribd.com/doc/273405839/Morrison-Memo-
Waterbury-Aldermanic-2015-03-18 (March 18, 2015 Memo-
randum of Peter A. Morrison to Waterbury, Connecticut, 
Board of Alderman regarding the City of Waterbury 2015 
Aldermanic Districting Plan). For an example of demogra-
phers using CVAP to analyze and adjust small-jurisdiction 
district lines in an effort to comply with Section 2, see Lap-
koff & Gobalet Demographic Research, Inc., Redistricting 
Report to the Board of Trustees Hartnell Community College 
District (Oct. 13, 2011), online at http://bit.ly/1IluwrD. 
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that CVAP is a reliable data source for this sensi-
tive work.  

The Department of Justice likewise has relied 
on CVAP when bringing Section 2 enforcement 
actions. E.g., Complaint ¶ 12, United States v. 
Sch. Bd. of Osceola Cnty., No. 6:08-cv-00582-GKS-
DAB (M.D. Fla. Apr. 16, 2008) (“The Hispanic 
population of the county is sufficiently numerous 
and geographically compact that a properly ap-
portioned single-member district plan for electing 
the School Board can be drawn in which Hispanic 
persons would constitute a majority of the citizen 
voting-age population in one out of five dis-
tricts.”); Complaint ¶ 8, United States v. Town of 
Lake Park, Fla., No. 09-cv-80507-KAM (S.D. Fla. 
Mar. 31, 2009); Complaint ¶ 8, United States v. 
Village of Port Chester, No. 06-civ-15173 
(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 15, 2006). 

Further examples abound. California’s inde-
pendent redistricting commission relied on ACS’s 
CVAP data to assure that its final maps met the 
requirements of Section 2 of the Voting Rights 
Act. State of California Citizens Redistricting 
Commission, Final Report On 2011 Redistricting 
15 & n.3 (Aug. 15, 2011) (explaining reliance on 
ACS and CVAP data); see also id. at 17-19 (dis-
cussing Section 2 compliance). Texas did so in 
constructing and defending its state legislative 
boundaries during this redistricting cycle.24  

                                            
24  The Texas Legislative Council published a research 
guide for using CVAP in connection with redistricting, along 
with CVAP data for each district in each set of maps. Texas 
Legis. Council, Estimating Citizenship Voting Age Popula-
tion Data (CVAP), Addendum to Data for 2011 Redistricting 
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In short, CVAP is now an indispensable fea-
ture in voting rights litigation under Section 2. 

B. CVAP Was A Key In Measuring 
Compliance With Section 5 Of The 
Voting Rights Act. 

Until this Court struck down Section 4(b) of 
the Voting Rights Act in Shelby County v. Holder, 
570 U.S. ––––, 133 S. Ct. 2612 (2013), a staple of 
Section 5 preclearance work involved analyzing 
retrogression by referencing CVAP data. Indeed, 
the Justice Department itself routinely consulted 
CVAP data in conducting preclearance reviews 
and in pursuing Section 5 enforcement.25 See U.S. 
Comm’n on Civil Rights, Redistricting and the 
2010 Census: Enforcing Section 5 of the Voting 
Rights Act 54-55 (Sept. 2012) (describing the 
DOJ’s “proportional retrogression” enforcement 
standard, which “assess[es] the gap between the 
actual number of minority ability districts and 

                                                                                          
in Texas (March 2013); Michael Li, Updated demographic 
data for Texas legislative & congressional maps, Texas Re-
districting & Election Law, http://txredistricting.org/ 
post/78929777903/updated-demographic-data-for-texas-
legislative (Mar. 8, 2014). 

25  Consideration of CVAP is necessary to gauge the true 
effect of a proposed redistricting plan. “[T]o measure the 
‘real’ electoral prospects of affected minority groups [in Sec-
tion 5 retrogression analysis], as opposed to apparent ones, 
the Justice Department, and the jurisdictions themselves, 
often needed to look at Citizen Voting Age Population 
(CVAP), voter registration or Statement of Vote data.” 
Bruce E. Cain & Karin Mac Donald, Voting Rights Act En-
forcement: Navigating Between High and Low Expectations, 
in The Future of the Voting Rights Act 133 (David L. Ep-
stein et al., eds., 2006). 
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the number of districts that would be roughly 
proportional to the minority share of the citizen 
voting age population”). 

For example, the Arizona Independent Redis-
tricting Commission relied on CVAP to assess 
Hispanic voting strength when seeking Section 5 
preclearance from the Department of Justice for 
its proposed legislative redistricting plan. Arizona 
Independent Redistricting Commission, United 
States Dep’t of Justice Submission Under Section 
5 of Voting Rights Act, State of Arizona Legisla-
tive Redistricting Plan 37 & n.3 (Feb. 28, 2012) 
(detailing commission’s reliance on ACS’s CVAP 
data to draw proposed districts); see generally id. 
at 84-133 (relying on CVAP when evaluating the 
proposed plan’s effect on minority voters’ ability 
to elect candidates of their choice). 

In a similar vein, CVAP was widely used in 
earlier voting-rights litigation related to the same 
plans that are at issue in this case. See Texas v. 
United States, 887 F.Supp.2d 133 (D. D.C. 2012), 
vacated and remanded, Texas v. United States, 
133 S. Ct. 2885 (2013). The District Court ana-
lyzed each challenged district by comparing His-
panic CVAP in the existing (or “benchmark”) plan 
against Texas’s proposed plan to determine 
whether the new plan ran afoul of Section 5’s 
prohibition on retrogression. 887 F.Supp.2d at 
153-56 (Congressional plan); 162-63 (State Senate 
plan); 167-177 (State House plan). 

 

 

 

Caster Plaintiffs' Exhibit 106, Page 32

Case 2:21-cv-01536-AMM   Document 114-3   Filed 02/01/22   Page 32 of 42



22 

 

C. Congress Relied On CVAP Data To 
Protect Minority Voting Rights In 
Section 203 Of The VRA. 

Demographers, the courts, State and local 
governments, and the Justice Department are not 
alone in their reliance on CVAP. Congress explic-
itly relied on CVAP data to protect minority vot-
ing rights. Section 203 of the Voting Rights Act, 
52 U.S.C. § 10503, prohibits states and political 
subdivisions from providing English-only voting 
materials if a threshold percentage of citizens 
have limited proficiency in English. To determine 
whether a State or political subdivision is subject 
to Section 203’s requirements, the statute defines 
a “covered State or political subdivision” “based 
on the 2010 American Community Survey census 
data and subsequent American Community Sur-
vey data in 5-year increments, or comparable cen-
sus data.” Id., subd. (b)(2)(A). Two of these calcu-
lations must expressly consider “the citizens of 
voting age” as calculated by the ACS. Id., subds. 
(b)(2)(A)(i)(I) and (II). 

This mandate, Congress declared, is an issue 
of constitutional magnitude:  

The Congress declares that, in order to en-
force the guarantees of the fourteenth and 
fifteenth amendments to the United States 
Constitution, it is necessary to eliminate 
such discrimination by prohibiting these 
practices [that exclude citizens of language 
minorities from participation in the elec-
toral process], and by prescribing other 
remedial devices. 

Id., subd. (a).  
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All of this begs the question: If everyone 
agrees that CVAP is valid and sufficiently reliable 
for the various purposes outlined above, how 
could it be insufficiently valid and reliable for 
one-person, one-vote claims, especially since the 
Court has already instructed that exact precision 
is not required to satisfy the Fourteenth Amend-
ment? See Reynolds, 377 U.S. at 578-79; see also 
Section V, infra. The answer: CVAP data are val-
id and reliable. Where necessary, they can be 
used to subdivide, with a known degree of relia-
bility, almost any populated territory into dis-
tricts populated by substantially equal numbers 
of voting-age citizens.  
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CONCLUSION 

Amici support appellants and agree it is un-
just for state and local governments to construct 
districts of grossly disproportionate voting 
strength, particularly when they have reliable da-
ta at their fingertips to reduce those imbalances. 
State and local jurisdictions throughout the Na-
tion already hire demographers to analyze their 
districts’ compliance with the Voting Rights Act 
based on CVAP data. These jurisdictions can use 
that same data to comply with the one-person, 
one-vote principle.  
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